IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC. D/B/A AT&T MISSISSIPPI,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

NO. 2009-UR-00071

MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

BRIEF OF APPELLANT BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC. D/B/A AT&T MISSISSIPPI

John C. Henegan, MB No. LeAnn W. Nealey, MB No. Butler, Snow, O'Mara, Stevens & Cannada, PLLC 210 East Capitol Street, 17th Floor Jackson, MS 39201 601.948.5711

Thomas B. Alexander, MB No. General Counsel
BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. d/b/a AT&T Mississippi
Suite 790, Landmark Center
175 E. Capitol Street
Jackson, Mississippi 32901

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In 2006, the Legislature amended Miss. Code § 77-3-35 (2006) and expressly authorized certain public utilities offering single-line flat rate voice communication service to obtain annual inflation-based rate increases to the retail rates for this service based on the CPI-U Index of the U.S. Department of Labor, an inflation index expressly prescribed by the Legislature and mandated for use under the statute as amended. *See* Miss. Laws Ch. 313, § 1 (2006), *codified at* Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008); Add. 36-41 & 8. In May 2008, BellSouth

Telecommunications, Inc., doing business as AT&T Mississippi, filed a Notice with the Mississippi Public Service Commission seeking approval of an inflation-based rate adjustment for the retail rates of certain categories of its single-line flat rate voice telephone service as allowed by Section 77-3-35(4)(a). The Commission denied the request in its entirety. There is one issue on appeal:

Did the Commission err as a matter of law or act arbitrarily and capriciously and therefore unlawfully when it denied AT&T Mississippi's Notice seeking a statutorily provided inflation-based rate adjustment to the retail rates for this regulated voice telephone service?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a direct appeal from an Order of the Commission filed in MPSC Docket No. 2008-UN-201. See Notice of Appeal (Jan. 14, 2008); I R. 112-14.² The Order erroneously denied AT&T Mississippi's request for an inflation-based rate increase expressly authorized and

Provisions of the Mississippi Code of 1972 and the Session laws most frequently cited herein are included in the Addendum to this Brief. They are cited by reference to the Code or Session Laws, or both, and where they may be located in the Addendum. For example, Section 77-3-35(4)(a), adopted in 2006, will be cited as "Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a); Miss. Laws ch. 313 (2006); Add. 8, 36-41" when appropriate.

Throughout this Brief, materials in the Record are cited "__ R. __" and those in the Record Excerpts are cited "R.E. __". Exhibits admitted at the Commission's hearing are cited "Ex. __".

mandated by the Legislature in Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008); Add. 8. Order (Dec. 31, 2008), filed in MPSC Docket No. 2008-UN-201; I R. 99-110; R.E. 3-14.

Regulating the rates of public utilities is a legislative task, and ratemaking is a legislative activity under Mississippi law. Miss. Const. Art. 7, § 186 (1890) (granting to Legislature the duty to pass laws regarding the charges of telephone companies); see Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. South Cent. Bell Tel. Co., 464 So. 2d 1133, 1135 (Miss. 1984) ("[R]ate-making function is legislative in character."). Under the State Constitution, the Legislature is permitted to delegate this task to the Commission. Id. The Commission has no power to act except within its jurisdiction granted by the Legislature. See Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. Mississippi Power & Light Co., 593 So. 2d 997, 998 (Miss. 1991) ("[A] statutory agency has only legislation granted authority[;] there is no inherent authority."). As such, the Commission can not act outside its statutory authority, and the Commission can not usurp the authority of the Legislature when the latter chooses to act under the State Constitution and the Public Utilities Code, Miss. Code § 77-3-1 et seq. (2008).

A. THE PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COMMISSION

1. The Evolution of the Commission's Authority to Regulate Local Telephone Rates and the Transition in Rate Models Authorized by the Legislature and Used by the Commission.

Beginning in 1956, Mississippi law required all public utilities seeking to adjust their intra-state telephone rates to seek approval from the Commission before the new rates became effective. See Miss. Code § 77-3-37 (2008). At that time, Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company and its successors, now doing business as AT&T Mississippi, and other telephone

³ The successor in interest to the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity, which allowed Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company to offer intra-state telecommunications service in Mississippi, was South Central Bell Telephone Company. The successor in interest to South Central

companies offering intra-state telephone service, were subject to traditional "rate of return" regulation. *E.g., Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 113 So. 2d 622 (Miss. 1959).

Under rate of return regulation, a utility periodically files a rate case for a proposed rate increase with the Commission (or, less often, the PSC "show causes" the utility). The rate case details the investments the utility has made to provide service to customers and its operating expenses, along with the utility's position about an appropriate rate of return that should be assigned to its capital deployed to provide utility services. The Commission considers the utility's filing and any other evidence brought forward and calculates a revenue requirement for the utility. The PSC then sets rates that are designed to produce the revenue requirement. *See* Miss. Code. § 77-3-33(1) (2008).

The regulatory ratemaking regime has since evolved over the years due to advances in telecommunications technology and increased competition in the provision of telecommunications services by regulated and non-regulated business entities.⁵ For example, in 1989, the Legislature authorized the Commission to move from the traditional rate of return ratemaking model and to "consider and adopt a formula type rate of return evaluation rate"

Bell's rights under this Certificate is BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., doing business as AT&T Mississippi. In this brief AT&T Mississippi will use the name of the company and/or its business trade name in use for the time period being discussed.

⁴ Broadly speaking, the revenue requirement equals the utility's total operating expenses for providing service, plus a reasonable return on the base of assets used to provide service. See Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. South Cent. Bell Tel. Co., 464 So. 2d 1133, 1136 (Miss. 1984) ("Of course, the rate base is in reality, and as required by law, considered the reasonable value of the company's property used in rate making procedures. For the benefit of those not involved in such matters, the two primary topics in those procedures are the 'rate base' as stated above and the 'rate of return' on that rate base. In order to arrive at a total rate increase, it is necessary for the commission to make a determination of both these figures. The fair rate of return is then compared to "net operating income", with any deficiency being the actual rate increase.").

⁵ Examples of non-regulated business entities providing telephone service today include cable TV companies and cellular companies.

See Miss. Code § 77-3-2(3)(a) (2008); Miss. Laws Ch. 304, § 1 (1989); Add. 1, 15-16. As explained in more detail below, the Commission in response approved in 1990 an incentive formula type rate of return regulation plan for South Central Bell known as the Mississippi Rate Stabilization Plan ("MSRP"). See AT&T Mississippi's Brief, at pp. 10-11, *infra*. The MSRP essentially created a rate case calculation formula which was performed each six months under the rules set forth in the plan, thus saving litigation expense and providing for a more efficient implementation of rate adjustments.

In 1995, the Commission completely departed from rate of return, or cost-based regulation. It replaced the MSRP with a price-capped method of regulation for South Central Bell. The price-capped model, known as the Price Regulation Evaluation Plan ("PREP"), regulated rates by imposing a pre-determined annual cap on existing rates rather than by calculating cost and an appropriate rate of return. Under this form of rate making ("price cap" or "rate cap" ratemaking), rates can only be adjusted annually up to the capped amount. This new, non-cost based regulation became effective January 1, 1996, and was in force for more than a decade. See AT&T Mississippi's Brief, at pp. 11-13, *infra*.

In 2006, finding that "competition or other market forces adequately protect the public interest," the Legislature divested the Commission of its authority to regulate the intra-state telecommunication rates of public utilities like AT&T Mississippi, with two exceptions. Miss. Laws Ch. 313, § 1, at pp. 398-99 (2006); Add. 38-39; *see* Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008); Add. 8. The exceptions are (i) switched access service and (ii) single-line flat rate voice communication service. *Id*.

In the last two sentences of Section 77-3-35(4)(a), the provision that accomplished this regulatory change, the Legislature authorized the Commission to continue to regulate the rates,

terms and conditions of these two services. However, for single-line flat rate voice communication service, the Legislature expressly adopted a rate cap formula for potential increases in the "retail rates" for this service that employed the procedure previously followed under PREP, i.e. the use of a predetermined annual cap on rate increases. To this end, the Legislature authorized those public utilities that offer this telecommunications service under tariff to obtain annual inflation-based rate increases not to exceed the CPI-U Index for the prior year. See Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (1988); Add. 8.

2. AT&T Mississippi's Notice for an Inflation-Based Rate Adjustment to Its Regulated Services and the Commission's Data Requests, Hearing and Order.

On May 13, 2008, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-35 (4)(a), AT&T Mississippi asked the Commission to approve an inflation-based rate adjustment⁶ to the retail rates for its single-line, flat rate voice communication services (that is, the most basic residential and business service available) provided under its General Subscriber Services Tariff. Notice of Filing; I R. 1-16. The Notice, which identified the categories of basic voice service to be affected, asked that the increase become effective June 13, 2008. Id.; I R. 1. AT&T Mississippi anticipated that it would receive approximately \$312,000.00 in annual revenue from its requested rate increase. See Notice of Corrected Filing (Sept. 8, 2008); I R. 56-58.

In response, the Commission suspended the effective date of the proposed rate increase and ordered "that a full investigation of the lawfulness" of the Notice be made by the Public

⁶ The proposed rate increase was based on the Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers ("CPI-U") in 2007 as reported by the U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics as authorized by Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4) (2008); Add. 8. Neither the Commission nor the Staff challenged the CPI-U calculation as used and applied by AT&T Mississippi in its Notice seeking the proposed increase.

⁷ On September 8, 2008, AT&T Mississippi filed a Notice of Corrected Filing with the Commission for the sole purpose of removing from the pending Notice any reference to revenues that are not within the Commission's jurisdiction. Notice of Corrected Filing (Sept. 8, 2008); I R. 56-58. See Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008); Add. 8.

Utilities Staff. Suspension Order (June 10, 2008); I R. 17. The Public Utilities Staff then issued a total of five different sets of data requests that sought detailed proprietary cost and pricing information not only about the regulated - but the *unregulated* - telecommunications offerings of AT&T Mississippi. See Ex. 3. Over the objection of AT&T Mississippi, the Commission ordered AT&T Mississippi to produce all such regulated and unregulated pricing information. See Order (Sept. 25, 2008); I R. 60.8 After a hearing, see II R. 1-67, the Commission issued an Order, denying the proposed rate increase in its entirety. Order (Dec. 31, 2008); I R. 99-110; R.E. 3-14. Notably, the Commission made no findings that AT&T Mississippi's proposed rate increase did not comply with the Legislature's statutorily mandated CPI-U.

Rather, without providing notice of its intentions, the Commission found that the inflation-based rate increase approved by the State Legislature was "not just, reasonable or in the public interest and is therefore denied." *Id.* at p. 11; I R. 109; R.E. 13. In so finding, the Commission undertook an analysis that it had not applied to AT&T Mississippi's service offerings for nearly two decades. The Commission did an about face and used a "rate-of-return" ratemaking analysis, finding that AT&T Mississippi had failed to submit evidence such as "cost of service study, cost justification data, or any other type of study or data" to support its Notice for approval of its inflation-based rate increase, explaining in a footnote that "the statutory requirement of just and reasonable rates is met when the rates are cost based." *Id.* at p.10 & n. 3, citing *State ex rel. Pittman v. Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 538 So. 2d 387 (Miss. 1989); I R. 108; R.E. 12. Today AT&T Mississippi continues to provide these regulated services to the

The next day AT&T Mississippi sought an interlocutory appeal to this Court to address the Commission's ruling compelling the production of information about AT&T's unregulated services. See Petition for Extraordinary Writ (Sept. 26, 2008); Ex. 14. While opposing the merits, the Commission agreed that this Court had jurisdiction to address the issue raised by the Petition. See Commission's Response to Petition for Extraordinary Writ 4-5 (Oct. 3, 2008); Ex. 14. After this Court denied the interlocutory appeal, See Order (Oct. 7, 2008); Ex. 14, the Commission set a hearing to determine the lawfulness of the proposed inflation-based rate increase. Order (Oct. 15, 2008); I R. 80-81.

public at the same retail rates that were in effect when the State Legislature adopted its inflationbased rate formula.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Beginning in 1995, the Commission stopped regulating the rates of AT&T Mississippi based on cost. For decades prior, the Commission had calculated the total cost of the company to provide service and had set its rates to recover that cost. But from 1995 until July, 2006, the Commission did not calculate the cost of service; it used a ceiling, or cap, above which rates could not be raised, and AT&T Mississippi operated its business and charged its many regulated rates in accord with that rate cap regulation.

In 2006, the Legislature unanimously concluded that competition or other market forces were a sufficient protection for all services offered by AT&T Mississippi except two. The Legislature authorized the Commission to regulate the rates, terms and conditions of those two services - switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service. The Legislature simultaneously provided specific instruction that the retail rates for single-line flat rate basic communications service may only be increased by the change in a well known federal consumer price index. Thus, the Legislature prescribed a price cap regulation method, similar to the method already being used by the Commission, for the sole remaining retail service rate that the Commission had authority to regulate, using an inflation index to calculate the cap.

In accord with the Legislature's prescription, AT&T Mississippi in May, 2008, filed a petition to increase the rates for single-line flat rate voice communication service. No one disputes that the proposed increase is within the inflation cap specified by the statute. After extensive and unwarranted discovery, the PSC denied AT&T Mississippi's request.

The operative statutory language is found in two sentences of the 2006 legislation, which state, in pertinent part:

the commission is only authorized to regulate the rates, terms and conditions of switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service ... [and] retail rates for such single-line flat rate voice communication service ... may only be increased during the calendar year by an amount that does not exceed the rates for such service on January 1 of the previous year, plus [inflation as measured by the CPI-U].

Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008); Add. 8.

In denying the company's request, the Commission announced that it interpreted these two sentences to mean that it can approve an increase in rates on single-line flat rate voice service only if it finds that the increase is "just and reasonable," but that in any event the increase may not exceed the inflation cap. Order 6 (Dec. 31, 2008); I R. 104; R.E. 8. The Order provides that a "just and reasonable" rate is one that is "cost-based". *Id.* 10 & n.3; I R. 108; R.E. 12.

The Commission's reading ignores the only reasonable interpretation of the statute. It also ignores the law governing cost-based ratemaking. The statute, which the Legislature enacted with full knowledge of the non-cost based regulation of the company's rates since 1995, simply adopts for single-line flat rate voice service the same type of regulation (i.e., price cap based, not cost based) that the Commission had employed for most retail services between 1995 and 2006.

The Legislature did not amend Section 77-3-35(4)(a) to herald a return to cost-based regulation. Had it intended to do so, the Legislature would not have prescribed an inflation-based price cap because such a cap would create rates that are less than cost-based in circumstances where cost increases exceed the rate of inflation. Where cost is the basis for rate regulation, ordering less than cost-based rates deprives a public utility of its constitutional right to just compensation for the taking of its property, a result the Legislature has clearly and properly eschewed by its enactment of an inflation-based rate formula. Yet this is precisely the arbitrary

reading the Commission has adopted. With respect, for these and the other reasons explained below, this Court should direct the Commission to enforce the statute as adopted by the Legislature, which has, clearly and plainly, freed most services from rate regulation altogether, while maintaining inflation-based price cap regulation for the retail rates of single-line flat rate voice service offered by the company.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

1. Standard of Review

The standard of appellate review is well known. The Commission's Order involves the interpretation of the Public Utilities Code, as amended, Miss. Code § 77-3-1 et seq. (2008), as applied to AT&T Mississippi's Notice filed with the Commission. Under Mississippi law, "an administrative agency is [generally] accorded deference, but when the agency has misapprehended a controlling legal principle, no deference is due, and [appellate] review is de novo." ABC Mfg. Corp. v. Doyle, 749 So. 2d 43, 45 (Miss. 1999) (emphasis added); Drews v. City of Hattiesburg, 905 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) ("[A]n administrative decision entailing a question of law is reviewed de novo."). As shown below, the Commission erroneously misinterpreted and misapplied Miss. Code § 77-3-35(4)(a) (2008), regarding a matter about which the statute is neither ambiguous nor silent, viz., the application of the statutorily mandated CPI-U Index to AT&T Mississippi's Notice for an inflation-based rate increase. Accordingly, this Court's review on appeal is de novo.

⁹ Since Section 77-3-35(4)(a) is neither ambiguous nor silent on the issue raised by this appeal, the Commission's construction of the statute is not entitled to any deference whatsoever. See Barbour v. State ex rel. Hood, 974 So. 2d 232, 240 (Miss. 2008), citing Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 865-66 (1984).

2. The Transition from Rate-of-Return Ratemaking to Alternative Methods of Regulation for Telecommunications Service Offerings

When the Public Utilities Act of 1956 was adopted, Miss. Laws Ch. 372 (1956), see

Miss. Code § 77-1-1 et seq. (2008), the intra-state rates of public utilities, including those of
local telephone companies, were subject to rate-of-return ratemaking. E.g., Southern Bell Tel. &

Tel. Co. v. Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 113 So. 2d 622 (Miss. 1959). Mississippi law
required all utilities seeking to adjust their rates to seek permission and approval from the

Commission. See Miss. Code § 77-3-37 (2008). In the words of the Commission:

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