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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 2006, the Legislature reformed which telecommunications services were to be regulated by the Commission. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-35(4). The Legislature determined that competition and other market forces adequately protected the public interest for all services except switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service. The Legislature also authorized the Commission to continue to regulate the "rates, terms and conditions of switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service." A cap was also placed on rates for single-line flat rate voice communication service which stated that rates may only be increased during the calendar year by an amount that does not exceed the

rates for such service on January 1 of the previous year, plus the increase in the Consume Price Index for all Urban Consumers.

AT&T Mississippi asserted that the cap the Legislature has imposed upon the Commission requires the “nondiscretionary, ministerial act of determining whether a proposed rate change for the regulated single-line flat rate service exceeds the CPI-U as reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.” (Tr. at 16). According to AT&T Mississippi, the only information the Commission should consider regarding a proposed rate increase to single line flat rate voice communication service is “(1) the rate in effect during the prior year, (ii) the proposed rate, (iii) the CPI-U for the prior year and (iv) whether the proposed rate increase is in excess of the CPI-U for the prior year.” The Commission asserts that AT&T Mississippi’s interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-35(4) is clearly not within the plain meaning of the statute.

The statute clearly states that the Commission is authorized to regulate the “rates” for single-line flat rate voice communication service. In regulating rates, the Commission is charged with the duty to determine whether rates are just and reasonable and in the public interest pursuant to Miss Code Ann. § 77-3-33. AT&T Mississippi’s position was that the Commission only has the authority to collect information directly related to the Consumer Price Index and “rubber stamp” the proposed rate increase. This interpretation would not allow the Commission to regulate rates and would only leave the Commission with the perfunctory duty of checking the math. Further, the sentence which places a cap on single-line flat rate service states that the rates “may” be increased not “shall” be increased. The word “may” clearly implies discretion while “shall” clearly implies a nondiscretionary, ministerial act. Therefore, the Commission interprets the section as stating that the Commission may approve a yearly rate increase on single-line flat rate voice communication service if it finds the increase to be just and reasonable, but the Commission may not allow the rate increase to exceed the CPI-U.

In the current proceeding, the Commission found the proposed rate increase to not be just and reasonable. (R. at 109). However, the Commission did not say in its order that the reason the proposed rate increase was found to not be just and reasonable was because the proposed rates were not cost based. AT&T Mississippi's assertion that the Commission used cost based rate of return ratemaking as the reason for denial of the proposed rate increase is erroneous. AT&T Mississippi took words from the Order out of context in order to support its assertion.

As can be read in the Order, AT&T Mississippi's single line flat rate voice communication service for both residential and business is broken into Rate Groups 1-13. (R. at 105). For its 1FR service, AT&T Mississippi sought to increase the rates of Rate Groups 1-9. *Id.* For its 1FB service, AT&T Mississippi sought to increase the rates of Rate Groups 1-13. *Id.* According to AT&T Mississippi's expert witness, the purpose of the proposed rate increase was to get 1FR rates in Rate Groups 1-9 closer to the market rate of \$19.01 and 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13 closer to an undisclosed market rate. (Tr. at 28-32). However, AT&T Mississippi provided no study or data to support its contention that the 1FR market rate was \$19.01 or indicate the current market rate for 1FB service. (Tr. 30-32). This lack of evidence was the reason for the denial of the proposed rate increase. (R. at 107-109).

AT&T Mississippi takes the phrase "cost of service study" and an accompanying footnote out of context to imply the Commission denied the proposed rate increase because the proposed rate increase was not cost based. However, the sentence AT&T Mississippi cites for this implication should be read in its entirety as well as in context with the preceding sentences and the two paragraphs following that sentence. The sentence states as follows: "However, AT&T Mississippi has provided no cost of service study, cost justification data or any other type of study or data to indicate that the 1FR market rate for Rate Groups 1-9 is \$19.01 and that those rates in Rate Groups 1-9 should be increased in order to be moved closer to \$19.01." (R. at 108).

The Commission did not deny the proposed rate increase because a cost of service study was not performed to indicate that the proposed rate increase was cost-based. The key is that AT&T Mississippi had provided nothing other than oral testimony regarding what the appropriate market rate is for 1FR and 1FB service. (R. at 107-109). The Commission was simply concerned about accepting AT&T Mississippi's assertion that the current 1FR market rate for Rate Groups 1-9 was \$19.01 and the current 1FB market rate was an undisclosed amount without any type of supporting data. This concern is reasonable considering residential customers in Rate Groups 1-9 would experience a rate increase while residential customers in Rate Groups 10-13 would not receive a rate increase. The Commission did not return to rate of return ratemaking or adopt previously unannounced standards in this proceeding. The Commission simply found the oral testimony regarding the appropriate market rate for 1FR rates in Rate Groups 1-9 and 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13 to be unpersuasive and unsupported by the evidence presented by AT&T Mississippi.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. Standard for Review

The Mississippi Legislature provides the standard of review that must be followed when hearing a case on appeal from a final order of the Mississippi Public Service Commission ("Commission"). The relevant part states as follows:

The order shall not be vacated or set aside either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the court finds that the order of the commission is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the commission, or violate constitutional rights.

Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-67 (2006). With regard to the interpretation of statutes by state agencies, the Court has stated that "unless the Department's interpretation is repugnant to the plain meaning thereof, the court is to defer to the agency's interpretation. Further, the

interpretation given the statute by the agency chosen to administer it should be accorded deference.” *His Way Homes, Inc. v. Mississippi Gaming Commission*, 733 So.2d 764, 769 (Miss. 1999).

B. The Commission’s Construction of Section 77-3-35(4) that the Legislature imposed a cap on how high the Commission may allow rates to be increased each year if the Commission finds the rate increase to be just and reasonable follows the plain meaning of the statute

The Commission interprets Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-35(4)(a) as giving the Commission authority to approve a yearly rate increase on single-line flat rate voice communication service if it finds the increase to be just and reasonable, but the Commission may not allow the rate increase to exceed the CPI-U. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-35(4)(a) states:

[T]he Legislature has determined that, in the provision of all services other than switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service, competition or other market forces adequately protect the public interest. The Commission is only authorized to regulate the rates, terms and conditions of switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service within a traditional calling area, with access to 911, with touch tone dialing and with access to long distance, so long as such single-line flat rate service is not combined with any other service, feature or product. The retail rates for such single-line flat rate voice communication service beginning January 1, 2007, and every succeeding January 1, may only be increased during the calendar year by an amount that does not exceed the rates for such service on January 1 of the previous year, plus the increase in the Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers as reported by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

The Commission interprets this section to state that it has the authority to regulate the rates for single-line flat rate voice communication service and that the Legislature imposed a cap on how high the Commission may allow rates to be increased each year if the Commission finds the rate increase to be just and reasonable.¹

¹ AT&T Mississippi asserts in its brief “rates” in the second sentence and “retail rates” have different meanings. The rates for switched access service and single line flat rate voice communication service are “retail rates”. Therefore, the term “rates” and “retail rates” have the same meaning.

The Commission's interpretation is supported when the price cap sentence is read in conjunction with the other sentences in section (4)(a). The first sentence states that the Legislature has determined that competition and market forces protect the public interest except for switched access service and single-line flat rate voice communication service.

In the next sentence, the Legislature states that the Commission is authorized to regulate the rates of single-line flat rate voice communication service which necessarily implies the Commission must still protect the public interest for those services. Part of the Commission's statutory duty in regulating rates and protecting the public interest is to ensure that rates charged by public utilities are just and reasonable. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-33. In performing this duty, the Commission may request the Staff to investigate a proposed rate increase to see if it is just and reasonable and advise the Commission of its findings. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-2-3. The Commission may also hold hearings to determine the reasonableness and lawfulness of the proposed rate increase. Miss. Code Ann. § 77-3-39.

According to AT&T Mississippi, the only information the Commission should consider regarding a proposed rate increase to single line flat rate voice communication service is "(1) the rate in effect during the prior year, (ii) the proposed rate, (iii) the CPI-U for the prior year and (iv) whether the proposed rate increase is in excess of the CPI-U for the prior year." AT&T Mississippi's interpretation of the statute would take away the Commission's ability to regulate the rates for single-line flat rate voice communication service and protect the public interest. AT&T Mississippi has admitted that its interpretation of the statute envisions nothing more than a mere "rubber stamp" of its proposed rate increase.

AT&T Mississippi's interpretation of the price cap sentence is flawed when interpreted both "on its face" and in the context of the rest of the section. AT&T Mississippi is of the opinion that the Legislature has imposed upon the Commission the "nondiscretionary, ministerial

act of determining whether a proposed rate change for the regulated single-line flat rate service exceeds the CPI-U as reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.” However, the statute reads that rates “**may**” be increased not “**shall**” be increased. The Commission believes this distinction to be extremely important. The use of the word “may” inherently implies the use of discretion in approving a rate increase.² Conversely, the word “shall” inherently implies a non-discretionary, ministerial act.³ Further, the Commission is not able to protect the public interest in regulating single-line flat rate voice communication service rates if the Commission is limited to the administrative act of merely ensuring that a rate increase does not exceed the CPI-U for the prior year.

As stated earlier, AT&T Mississippi’s position is that the Commission only has the authority to collect information directly related to the Consumer Price Index and “rubber stamp” the proposed rate increase. Such an interpretation is clearly not the plain meaning of the statute considering the statute states, in effect, that competition and market forces do not protect the public interest for single-line flat rate service and expressly authorizes the Commission to regulate rates for single-line flat rate service. Thus, the Commission interprets the section as stating that the Commission may approve a yearly rate increase on single-line flat rate voice communication service if it finds the increase to be just and reasonable, but the Commission may not allow the rate increase to exceed the CPI-U.

The Commission’s interpretation simply follows the plain meaning of the statute. The Commission is to regulate the rates for single-line flat rate service in order to protect the public

² The term “may,” as used in a statute, should be given its ordinary meaning intended by the General Assembly-permission, importing discretion. *Masters v. Hart*, 189 Va. 969, 979, 55 S.E.2d 205, 210 (1949).

³ The use of the word “shall” in a statute generally implies that its terms are intended to be mandatory, rather than permissive or directive. See *Andrews v. Shepherd*, 201 Va. 412, 111 S.E.2d 279 (1959); see also *Schmidt v. City of Richmond*, 206 Va. 211, 218, 142 S.E.2d 573, 578 (1965)

interest which necessarily implies that in regulating the rates the Commission must ensure that the rates are just and reasonable. The Legislature included an additional caveat that placed a cap on how high the rates may be increased by the Commission each year if a rate increase is found to be just and reasonable. This interpretation is clearly not repugnant to the plain meaning of the statute. Therefore, the Commission respectfully requests the Court to defer to this agency's interpretation of the statute.

C. The Commission's Denial of the Proposed Rate Increase as not being Just and Reasonable is Supported by Substantial Evidence Due to the Fact AT&T Mississippi Provided No Data to Support or Justify the Proposed Rate Increase.

The Commission's denial of AT&T Mississippi's proposed rate increase was not hinged on cost based rate of return ratemaking analysis nor did the Commission create and adopt previously unannounced standards of when it may approve a rate increase. In any rate proceeding, the burden of proof is on the utility to provide that the proposed rate increase is just and reasonable. *State ex rel. Pittman v. Mississippi Pub. Ser. Comm'n*, 538 So.2d 387, 394 (1989). The Commission found that AT&T Mississippi failed to produce such proof.

AT&T Mississippi's witness testified that the purpose of the proposed rate increase was for 1FR rates in Rate Groups 1-9 and 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13 to be moved closer to the market rate. (Tr. at 28, 31). For 1FR service, the market rate was \$19.01 which was the current rate for 1FR rates in Rate Groups 10-13. (Tr. at 28). AT&T Mississippi's witness did not provide what the market rate was for 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13. Rather, the witness merely stated that 1FB rates were currently below the market rate. (Tr. at 31).

However, AT&T Mississippi provided no study or data to indicate the current 1FR market rate for Rate Groups was \$19.01 or to indicate the current 1FB market rate for Rate Groups 1-13. (Tr. 30-32). Thus, the only evidence that 1FR rates in Rate Groups 1-9 and 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13 are no longer at the appropriate market rate is the oral testimony of

AT&T Mississippi's witness at the hearing of this matter. It was for that reason the Commission denied the proposed rate increase. The Commission Order states as follows: "The Commission finds the oral testimony regarding the appropriate market rate for 1FR rates in Rate Groups 1-9 and 1FB rates in Rate Groups 1-13 to be unpersuasive and unsupported." (R. at 108).

AT&T Mississippi contends that the Commission performed a cost-based rate of return ratemaking regulation in this proceeding and that it adopted previously unannounced standards for approval of the proposed rate increase. The Commission did no such analysis. The Order never mentions rate of return regulation nor does it create new standards for approval. AT&T Mississippi took the phrase "cost of service study" and the accompanying footnote completely out of context in order to arrive at the conclusion the Commission instituted cost-based rate of return regulation.

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